

No 2011 – 05 March

FDI from the South: the role of institutional distance and natural resources

Mariya Aleksynska Olena Havrylchyk

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

Non-technical summary	
Abstract	
Résumé non technique	6
Résumé court	
1. Introduction	
2. What makes FDI from the South different?	
2.1. Institutional determinants	
2.2. Institutions and resources	14
2.3. Complementarity vs substitution	15
3. The Data	16
4. Methodology and Results	
5. Conclusions	24
References	

### FDI FROM THE SOUTH: THE ROLE OF INSTITUTIONAL DISTANCE AND NATURAL RESOURCES

#### **NON-TECHNICAL SUMMARY**

The share of developing and transition countries in the global foreign direct investment (FDI) outflows has doubled in the last 20 years, reaching 16% of the total FDI outflow stock. Most of the investment flows from developing countries go to other developing and transition economies, giving rise to the term "South-South FDI" and amounting to one-third of the total foreign investment in emerging economies.

The academic literature about FDI stemming from the South is very limited because of the novelty of the subject and, more importantly, the scarcity of the data on investment stemming from the South. Our paper attempts to fill this void and, therefore, we construct a novel dataset that combines information on bilateral FDI flows for 60 developing and 22 developed economies between 1996 and 2007, covering 85 percent of the world FDI flows. The goal of this study is twofold: 1) to understand the determinants of investment flows, and their differences vis-à-vis more traditional FDI from developed countries ("the North") and 2) to observe their implications for receiving countries and for investors from developed economies. Apart from traditional determinants of FDI, a special attention is paid to institutions and natural resources.

Bad institutions are perceived by economists as an additional entry barrier than deters FDI and lowers growth. A few recent studies, however, claim that institutional differences might be of equal importance and, thus, investors are more likely to enter countries with familiar institutions. In other words, countries with good institutions invest in other countries with good institutions, whereas countries with weak institutions invest in other countries with weak institutions. Such an argument provides a very plausible explanation for South-South FDI, but previous papers could not test it because of the lack of data.

Further, our focus on the endowment with natural resources is propelled by their growing strategic importance owing to an increased demand and soaring prices, which motivated emerging economies to intensify efforts to acquire oil assets and invest in mining. Importantly, companies from the South that invest in the primary sector are almost always state-owned and, hence, they could be influenced by considerations other than economic. These investors appear to be less deterred by poor institutions in host countries than large private multinationals from developed countries. Moreover, availability of rents from natural resources more often than not has negative implications for the quality of institutions in host countries, and our paper shows that failure to control for one of these variables could result in misleading conclusions.

Our findings are the following. First, we demonstrate that FDI from the South has a more regional exposure than investment from developed countries, as common border and common language appear to be more important for the former investors. Second, when countries from the South invest in countries with better institutions, larger institutional differences between source and destination countries can be viewed as a driving force. This is likely due to the "asset-seeking" nature of FDI, as emerging investors acquire new technologies, brands, and intellectual property, which are more likely to be found in good institutional environment. Third, when emerging economies invest in countries with worse institutions, they are on average deterred by a large institutional differences, even though the effect is weaker in the case of South-South FDI. Interestingly, such a negative effect of institutional differences is outweighed by the appeal of natural resources, which appears to be a very important force behind FDI from the emerging economies that strive to secure the possession of subsoil resources. We argue that ignoring bad institutions in a search of natural resources could pose serious problems for investors from the South in the future.

Finally, the emergence of large investors from the South may be viewed as taking away potential investment opportunities that could have been undertaken by investors from the North *i.e.* crowding them out. At the same time, we attest to numerous differences between investors from the South and the North, suggesting that investors from the South could be attracted by other types of activities or sectors, and hence, these flows could be rather complementary. Indeed, our findings demonstrate that FDI from the South crowd-in investment from the North, which we attribute to different investment behaviors of these investors. This result is good news for both Northern investors and for South receiving countries, who see different investment opportunities grasped by different investors, rather than southern corporations competing head-to-head with their northern counterparts to earn market share.

#### ABSTRACT

This study explores location choices for investors stemming from emerging economies (often referred to as the South), with a particular emphasis on institutions and natural resources. Relying on a novel dataset of bilateral FDI flows between 1996 and 2007, we demonstrate that FDI from the South has a more regional aspect than investment stemming from the North. Institutional distance has an asymmetric effect on FDI depending on whether investors choose countries with better or worse institutions. In the latter case, a large institutional distance between source and destination countries discourages FDI inflows, but the growing attractiveness of the primary sector outweighs this deterring effect for emerging investors. We also attest to the complementary relationship between capital flows from the North and South in developing recipient countries, which we attribute to different FDI patterns of these investors.

JEL Classification: F21, F23, E02

Key Words:

Foreign direct investment, South-South, developing countries, institutions, crowding-in, natural resources.

### LES IDE EN PROVENANCE DU SUD : LE ROLE DE LA DISTANCE INSTITUTIONNELLE ET DES RESSOURCES NATURELLES

#### **RESUME NON TECHNIQUE**

La part des investissements des pays en développement et en transition dans le stock mondial d'investissements directs étrangers (IDE) a doublé au cours des 20 dernières années, atteignant 16% en 2007. La plupart des flux d'investissement des pays en développement vont vers d'autres économies en développement et en transition («IDE Sud-Sud») ; ils constituent un tiers du total des investissements étrangers dans les économies émergentes.

La littérature académique sur les IDE provenant des pays du Sud est très limitée non seulement en raison de la nouveauté du sujet, mais aussi, et surtout, en raison du manque de données sur les investissements provenant des pays du Sud. Notre recherche vise à combler cette lacune. Nous construisons une nouvelle base de données qui rassemble des informations sur les flux d'IDE bilatéraux pour 60 pays en développement et 22 pays développés entre 1996 et 2007, couvrant 85% des flux mondiaux d'IDE. Le but de cette étude est double : 1) comprendre les déterminants des flux d'investissement, et leurs différences vis-à-vis des IDE plus traditionnels en provenance des pays développés («Nord») ; 2) observer leurs implications pour les pays d'accueil et pour les investisseurs des pays développés. A côté des déterminants traditionnels de l'IDE, nous accordons une attention particulière aux institutions et aux ressources naturelles.

Les économistes considèrent que des institutions défaillantes constituent une barrière à l'entrée qui décourage les IDE et réduit la croissance. Plusieurs études récentes montrent cependant que les *différences* institutionnelles pourraient être aussi importantes que la qualité des institutions et que les investisseurs sont davantage susceptibles d'aller dans des pays dont les institutions leur sont familières. Suivant cet argument, les pays ayant de «bonnes » institutions investiraient dans des pays avec de bonnes institutions, de même que les pays avec des institutions faibles investiraient dans d'autres pays avec des institutions faibles. En utilisant les données de 1996 à 2007, nous cherchons à vérifier cet argument qui, faute de données, n'a jusqu'ici pas été testé.

L'attention particulière que nous portons aux ressources naturelles est justifiée par leur importance croissante en raison de l'augmentation de la demande et de la flambée des prix. Les économies émergentes ont en particulier cherché à acquérir des actifs pétroliers et à investir dans le secteur minier. De plus, les sociétés du Sud qui investissent dans les activités primaires appartiennent presque toujours à l'État et peuvent avoir des motivations autres qu'économiques. En particulier, elles semblent être moins découragées par la médiocrité des institutions des pays d'accueil que les grandes multinationales privées des pays développés.

Par ailleurs, la disponibilité de rentes provenant des ressources naturelles a souvent un impact négatif sur la qualité des institutions. Notre étude montre qu'en ignorant l'une de ces variables, les estimations économétriques peuvent parvenir à des conclusions erronées.

Nos résultats sont les suivants. Tout d'abord, nous montrons que les IDE en provenance du Sud ont une dimension régionale plus importante que les investissements provenant des pays développés, une frontière commune ou une langue commune jouant davantage pour eux. Deuxièmement, lorsque les pays du Sud investissent dans des pays dotés de meilleures institutions, les écarts institutionnels entre pays d'origine et de destination peuvent être considérés comme une force d'attraction. Cela est probablement dû à la possibilité plus grande d'acquérir des actifs intangibles (nouvelles technologies, marques, propriété intellectuelle) dans un bon environnement institutionnel. Troisièmement, lorsque les pays s'orientent vers des pays où les institutions sont moins bonnes que dans les pays d'origine, ils sont généralement dissuadés par une grande différence institutionnelle, mais cet effet est plus faible dans le cas des IDE Sud-Sud. En effet, la dissuasion exercée dans ce cas par les différences institutionnelles est compensée par l'attraction des ressources naturelles d'une façon particulièrement forte s'agissant des IDE en provenance des économies émergentes. Nous suggérons que cette absence de prise en compte de la faible qualité des institutions de la part des investisseurs du Sud en quête de ressources naturelles pourrait, à l'avenir, se révéler dangereuse pour eux.

Enfin, nous nous demandons dans quelle mesure l'émergence d'investisseurs du Sud peut être considérée comme une menace pour ceux du Nord. Nous observons de nombreuses différences entre les investissements des pays du Sud et ceux du Nord, ce qui suggère qu'ils pourraient être attirés par des activités ou secteurs différents, et par conséquent, être plus complémentaires que concurrents. En particulier, nos résultats démontrent que la présence d'IDE en provenance du Sud attire les investissements de ces investisseurs. Ce résultat constitue une bonne nouvelle à la fois pour les investisseurs du Nord et pour les pays d'accueil du Sud. Plutôt que les sociétés du Sud concurrencent leurs homologues du Nord sur les mêmes marchés, ils signifient que des possibilités d'investissement différentes sont saisies par des investisseurs d'origines différentes.

#### **RESUME COURT**

Ce document porte sur le choix de localisation des investisseurs issus des pays émergents (« Sud »), avec un accent particulier sur le rôle des institutions et des ressources naturelles. En appuyant sur une nouvelle base de données portant sur les IDE bilatéraux entre 1996 et 2007, nous démontrons que les IDE en provenance du Sud ont une dimension plus régionale que les investissements provenant du Nord. La distance institutionnelle a un effet asymétrique sur les IDE selon que l'investisseur s'oriente vers un pays doté de meilleures ou de moins bonnes institutions que celles de son pays d'origine. Dans ce dernier cas, une grande distance institutionnelle entre les pays d'origine et de destination décourage l'entrée des IDE. Cependant, pour les investisseurs émergents, l'attrait du secteur primaire l'emporte sur l'effet dissuasif des écarts institutionnels.

Nous mettons également en évidence une relation de complémentarité entre investissements du Nord et du Sud dans les pays du Sud, effet que nous attribuons à la nature différente de ces deux types d'IDE.

Classification JEL: F21, F23, E02

*Mots-clefs* :

Investissements directs étrangers, Sud-Sud, pays en développement, institutions, complémentarités, ressources naturelles

# **FDI** FROM THE SOUTH: THE ROLE OF INSTITUTIONAL DISTANCE AND NATURAL RESOURCES<sup>1</sup>

Mariya Aleksynska & Olena Havrylchyk<sup>\*</sup>

#### 1. INTRODUCTION

The share of developing and transition countries in the global foreign direct investment (FDI) outflows has doubled in the last 20 years, reaching 16% of the total FDI outward stock. Most of this increase has happened since 2004 (UNCTAD, 2010). This process has not only been driven by an active role of China, whose share amounts to 8.5 percent of the total FDI stemming from the South.<sup>2</sup> Other important investors are Brazil, Hong Kong, India, Malaysia, Mexico, Russia, South Africa, South Korea, Singapore and the UAE, who together account for almost 80 percent of the total FDI outflows from the South in 2010. Most of the investment flows from developing countries go to other developing and transition economies, giving rise to the term "South-South FDI" and amounting to one-third of the total FDI inflows in emerging economies (Aykut and Ratha, 2004). The appearance of these new global investors has been described as a "huge infusion" or a "bonanza" in the popular media, reflecting large amounts that are being invested. It has naturally raised a number of important questions regarding their strategies and motivations, as well as implications for investors from the North.

Given the novelty of the subject and scarcity of the data, the academic literature about FDI stemming from the South is very limited and most existing papers are either descriptive or have a regional focus (Aykut and Ratha, 2004; UNCTAD, 2006; Buckley et al., 2007; Bera and Gupta, 2009). To our knowledge, there are only two studies that include investors from the South in their analysis of FDI determinants: Cuervo-Cazurra (2006) who relies on the FDI flows data, but restricts his sample to one year, and Darby *et al.* (2009) who construct a panel dataset for a number of foreign affiliates of North and South companies. Both studies focus on institutional determinants of FDI.

<sup>1</sup> We are grateful to Guillaume Virag for the excellent research assistance, as well as to Agnès Bénassy-Quéré, Gunther Capelle-Blancard, Thierry Mayer, Antoine Berthou, Christophe Destais, Jacques Melitz and participants at the CEPII seminar for useful comments and suggestions. The usual disclaimer applies.

<sup>\*</sup> CEPII. Corresponding email: mariya.aleksynska@cepii.fr. Address: 113, rue de Grenelle, 75007, Paris, France. CEPII. Email: olena.havrylchyk@cepii.fr.

<sup>2</sup> We follow Aykut and Ratha (2004) and UNCTAD in defining "North" and "South" countries. In this paper, "North" includes only 22 high-income OECD countries, while "South" includes the rest: developing, transition economies, and six high-income non-OECD countries (Aruba, Brunei, Hong Kong, Kuwait, Singapore, UAE). Terms "the South", "developing and transition economies" and "emerging economies" are used interchangeably throughout the paper.

The contribution of this paper is the following. First, we construct a novel dataset that combines information on bilateral FDI flows for 60 developing and 22 developed economies between 1996 and 2007, covering 85 percent of the world FDI flows. Second, relying on this dataset, we investigate whether investors from the South invest differently from their counterparts from the North. Besides traditional determinants of FDI, a particular attention is paid to the institutional distance between source and destination countries, and endowment with natural resources. Third, having attested to differences between these investors, we inquire into the consequences of South FDI for investors from the North by studying the relationship between them. As we explain further, such test of substitution or complementarity can be considered as additional approach to explore differences and similarities between investors from the North.

The focus on institutional distance is motivated by a recent evidence showing that investors are not only discouraged by bad institutions in host countries, but are also deterred by an institutional distance between origin and destination countries as they prefer to invest in countries with a similar institutional environment (Bénassy-Quéré et al. 2007; Habib and Zurawicki, 2002). These studies are performed on a sample of developed economies, but their results imply that investors from the South may have a comparative advantage to invest in other developing countries (Claessens and Van Horen, 2009). Indeed, they may be eager and more able to operate in institutionally weak environments thanks to their previous domestic experience with poor institutions (Cuervo-Cazurra and Genc, 2008; Darby, 2009), as well as greater familiarity of business practices in similar markets (the World Bank, 2006). Such a hypothesis could provide a very plausible explanation for the recent surge in South-South FDI. We extend this literature by explicitly testing the above hypothesis on a sample of investors from the South. Moreover, we argue that in the setting of the multitude of investors originating both from the North and the South, one cannot consider institutional distance between origin and destination countries in absolute terms, as it is done in the earlier literature. This is because such treatment implies a symmetric preference for worse and for better institutions, an assumption that may result in misleading conclusions. We show that more insight can be gained if one rather differentiates between flows to countries with better and with worse institutions.

Further, our focus on the endowment with natural resources is propelled by their growing strategic importance owing to an increased demand and soaring prices, which motivated emerging economies to intensify efforts to acquire oil assets and invest in mining (UNCTAD, 2007).<sup>3</sup> To mitigate the domestic shortage of natural resources, the Chinese government has promoted outward FDI for resource exploration projects *via* preferential bank loans of the Export-Import Bank of China. As a result, between 2003 and 2005, the mining industry has accounted for 32 percent of the total outward Chinese FDI, albeit its share has decreased

<sup>3</sup> Despite the fact that companies from developing and transition economies now control most of the global production of oil and gas, their degree of internationalization is still relatively modest. Among five largest emerging country multinationals, only CNPC/PetroChina has any production abroad (17 percent of its total production). In comparison, the top privately owned oil multinationals from developed countries, ExxonMobil and BP, have at least 80 percent of their production in foreign countries.

afterwards. The government of India has also mandated its state-owned oil companies to secure stakes in oversea oil deposits. While Russia does not need to secure resources for its own demand, it has still engaged in the competition for resources in the post-soviet republics with the aim of selling them in international markets.<sup>4</sup> Other important emerging investors in the primary sector are Brazilian, Kuwaiti and Malaysian enterprises.

Importantly, companies from the South that invest in the primary sector are almost always state-owned and, hence, they could be influenced by considerations other than economic. These investors appear to be less deterred by poor institutions in host countries than large private multinationals from developed countries (UNCTAD, 2007). As an extreme but instructive example, one may consider Chinese, Indian and Malaysian investment in Sudan that suffers from some of the worst institutions in the world and is facing United States economic sanctions due to the conflict in the Darfur region. China and Malaysia are also present in Iran, while Russia is the only major foreign investor in Belarus. Moreover, availability of rents from natural resources is often negatively related to the quality of institutions in host countries and, to preview our findings, we demonstrate that the omission of this variable can bias results.

Our empirical analysis of FDI determinants yields a number of interesting results about the behavior of investors from the South. First of all, we show that institutional distance has an asymmetric effect, depending on whether receiving countries possess better or worse institutions than origin countries. Those investors from the South that invest in countries with better institutions choose countries with the best possible institutions. Despite unfamiliarity, such an institutional environment is the most transparent for potential entrants due to the low corruption, sound property rights, and political stability. Alternatively, when investors from the South invest in countries with worse institutions than at home, institutional distance deters them, confirming earlier evidence for investors from the North. Most importantly, however, the growing attractiveness of the primary sector appears to outweigh the deterring effects of bad institutions in destination countries that are endowed with the largest natural resources.

The emergence of large investors from the South may be viewed as taking away potential investment opportunities that could have been undertaken by investors from the North *i.e.* crowding them out.<sup>5</sup> However, we attest to numerous differences between investors from the South and the North, suggesting that investors from the South could be attracted by other types of activities or sectors, and hence, these flows could be rather complementary. This would be good news for investors from developed economies, but also for developing receiving countries, who would see different investment opportunities grasped by different investors, rather than emerging multinationals competing head-to-head with their counterparts

<sup>4</sup> Turkmenistan and Uzbekistan, for instance, are large producers and exporters of natural gas, but they find it difficult to export due to restrictions on their access to the Russian Federation transit pipelines.

<sup>5</sup> Hillary Clinton, the US secretary of state, has noted that some developing countries are making "disturbing" gains in the Latin American region. She said that the US was competing for attention and relationships with at least the Russians, the Chinese and the Iranians (The Economist, 2009).

from the North to earn market share. We test and confirm this hypothesis for the case of developing receiving countries.

The rest of this paper is organized as follows. Section 2 reviews the theoretical predictions and empirical evidence on determinants of FDI; Section 3 presents our empirical methodology; Section 4 explains data collection and summary statistics. Sections 5 describe our empirical findings and Section 6 concludes.

#### 2. WHAT MAKES FDI FROM THE SOUTH DIFFERENT?

#### 2.1. Institutional determinants

Traditional literature on FDI has paid a particular attention to the importance of institutions in attracting FDI, suggesting several reasons why their quality may matter. In line with the growth literature, good economic institutions, such as property rights and rule of law, increase incentives to invest and improve allocation of resources (Acemoglu et al., 2005; Kaufmann and Kraay, 2002; Rodrik et al., 2004). This leads to higher growth prospective and, hence, renders a country more attractive for foreign investors. Second, poor institutional environment, such as corruption, brings additional costs to FDI (Shleifer and Vishny, 1993; Wei, 2000). Third, FDI have very high sunk costs, which makes investors reluctant to enter foreign markets, unless they can write binding long-term contracts to decrease all types of uncertainty, and, hence, government stability, and institutions enabling contract enforcement are especially important (Naudé and Krugell, 2007; Busse and Hefeker, 2007). If contracts and property rights are well-enforced, each agent will be able to recoup its investment to a greater degree (Levchenko, 2007). The empirical literature supports these theoretical predictions and numerous studies demonstrate that strong institutions of host countries attract FDI (Wheeler and Mody, 1992; Daude and Stein, 2007), however most of these studies have been done with the focus on developed origin countries.

Poor institutional quality of potential host countries is often cited as the leading explanation for the scarcity of capital flows to poor countries predicted by the standard neoclassical theory – the "Lucas Paradox" (Lucas, 1990; Alfaro *et al.*, 2008; Papaioannou, 2009). Thus, the above literature does not provide an explanation for the emerging phenomenon of the South-South FDI. To understand the role of institutions in the capital flows between developing economies, one should rather look at studies of Habib and Zurawicki (2002) and Bénassy-Quéré *et al.* (2007), who propose to consider not only institutions in host countries, but also an institutional distance between the origin and the destination countries. They adopt the notion of "psychic distance", which asserts that companies choose to enter markets perceived to be psychologically closer, because these countries present lower level of uncertainty, and psychic closeness facilitates learning from host countries. In line with this hypothesis, they find that a larger institutional distance deters foreign investors. While these studies analyze a sample of investors from mostly developed economies, their results imply that emerging investors from the South that are familiar with weak institutions may have a comparative advantage in investing in other developing economies that suffer from corruption and political instability. To the best of our knowledge, the only paper that studies the role of institutional distance on the sample that includes developing countries is Claessens and Van Horen (2008), but their study is restricted only to the banking FDI. They also report a deterring effect of a large institutional distance.

While not directly analyzing institutional distance, there are two studies that attest to the diminishing negative effects of bad host institutions if investors have earlier experience with poor institutional environment. Cuervo-Cazurra (2006) show that investors from countries with high corruption and the lack of enforcement of anticorruption laws select similar countries when they internationalize in order to exploit their familiarity with corrupt environments and also because they face lower costs of operating as opposed to other investors.<sup>6</sup> Darby *et al.* (2009) develop and empirically test the hypothesis that multinationals with previous experience of imperfect institutions at home are little, if not at all, discouraged by institutional deficiencies abroad, as contrasted to multinationals with no such experience, and that good governance in host countries may even deter those investors who had previous negative experience at home. Taken together, these studies imply that incentives to invest differ across investors, and that countries with bad institutions do not necessarily have to improve their quality in order to attract investors. They may still see considerable investment inflows, albeit from a different type of investors.

Similarly, in a study of Chinese outward direct investment, Buckley *et al.* (2007) show that when choosing an investment location Chinese firms prefer countries with higher political risk, even after controlling for the rate of return. They advance a number of explanations that are linked to the nature and strategy of Chinese firms. Such behavior could be led by state-owned firms that do not maximize profits or could be due to close political ties between China and other developing host countries, where the bargaining position of Chinese firms may have been strengthened, because these host countries receive only a modest amount of FDI from developed economies. Chinese investors might be able to mitigate the risk associated with operating in risky environment or be prepared to invest in countries that are usually avoided by other investors due to ethical reasons. These authors also blame inexperience of Chinese investors that take decisions without the due diligence and risk assessment. According to the BCG Report (2006), the largest Russian investors are also state-owned, and a similar logic may be applied to them.

It is important to note, too, that earlier papers rely on a measure of institutional distance, computed as an absolute difference between institutions in origin and destination countries, assuming that better or worse institutions have a similar deterring effect. Finding such assumption unrealistic, we relax it by introducing the notions of positive (home institutions

<sup>6</sup> It should be mentioned that all investors, even those from developed countries, may engage in corrupt practices in order to smooth their business operations. Hines (1995) examines the impact of the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977 forbidding foreign bribery by American firms on subsequent US outward FDI growth to corrupt nations. Hines finds a lower FDI growth to corrupt states than to non-corrupt countries subsequent to the law's passage.

are better than host institutions) and negative institutional distance (home institutions are worse than host institutions). Whereas we presume that institutional distance plays a deterring role when institutions in destination countries are worse than at home (in line with previous studies), we hypothesize that a larger institutional distance should not harm and could even attract investors when institutions in destination countries are better than at home. Despite unfamiliarity, such an institutional environment is the most transparent for potential entrants due to the rule of law (the quality of contract enforcement and property rights), low level of corruption, sound and unobtrusive regulation that promotes private initiative, high accountability, good quality of public services, and political stability. This also reflects "assets seeking FDI" as investors purchase multinationals with famous brands and the latest technologies, which are more likely to develop in institutionally friendly environments.

#### 2.2. Institutions and resources

As it was discussed in the Introduction, growth of FDI from the South has recently been driven by investment in natural resources. Interestingly, most developing countries that are endowed with natural resources have a very poor quality of institutions and, hence, it is necessary to look at the sources of this negative correlation. Most of the explanations, found in the literature, relate to the rents that are generated due to natural resources exploitation and that are easily appropriated. A "rentier effect" occurs, because revenues from the export of fuels and minerals allow governments to mollify dissent (buy off critics through lavish infrastructure projects or outright graft) and avoid accountability pressures (because taxes are low), increase incentives for corruption, as well as discourage the introduction of better institutions, because they would erode the political advantage and future rents of the incumbents (Acemoglu *et al.*, 2004; Acemoglu and Robinson, 2006; Ades and Di Tella, 1999; Robinson *et al.*, 2006). Numerous studies also show that natural resources income is one of the leading determinants of the probability of wars and of the conflict duration (Collier and Hoeffler, 2004; Ross, 2004; Collier *et al.*, 2004) with harmful effects on the quality of the legal system and, thus, on property rights (van der Ploeg, 2010).

The above rent-seeking models are confirmed by a number of empirical studies. Bhattacharyya and Hodler (2009) rely on a dataset covering 99 countries during 1980-2004 and find that natural resources induce corruption in countries that have endured a non-democratic regime for a long time. Isham *et al.* (2003) stress that certain types of natural resources, such as oil and diamonds, have a particularly weakening effect on institutional capacity. In a quasi-experimental study, Brollo *et al.* (2010) argue that windfall government revenues worsen the functioning of institutions by reducing the degree of political accountability and deteriorating the quality of elected officials as well. Vicente (2010) document an increase in corruption of 10 percent after the announcements of the oil discovery in São Tomé.

Such a close nexus between institutions and resources requires a simultaneous examination of the impact of institutions and endowment with natural resources, leading otherwise to a serious omitted variable bias. Surprisingly, very few papers address this issue. Exploring sector level data, albeit for one source country, Poelhekke and van der Ploeg (2010) show that subsoil assets boost resource FDI, but crowd out non-resource FDI, leading to the lower aggregate amount of foreign investment in countries endowed with natural resources. They attribute their results to the "resource curse", but find no effect of institutions on non-resource FDI. Relying on country level data, Asiedu (2006) studies the impact of natural resources and bad host institutions on FDI in Africa and concludes that both factors are important in explaining FDI.

In this study, we show the effect of omitting and including natural resources as a determinant of FDI along with the institutions. The results suggest that the joint treatment of these variables is justified.

#### 2.3. Complementarity vs substitution

Given the rise of investors from emerging economies, what are the implications for multinationals in developed economies? This depends on a number of factors. First of all, one has to know whether these investors compete in the same industries and sectors. Bera and Gupta (2009) show that investors in India from both the North and the South tend to concentrate in sectors that are equally characterized by larger markets, lower import intensity, and higher export orientation. Would this imply that South investors enter into competition with investors from the North for new investment opportunities? Besides their ability to deal with bad institutions, developing countries might have other advantages over developed countries when investing in the South, such as familiarity with low cost production processes and the use of technologies that are more appropriate for developing countries.<sup>7</sup> Moreover, there is anecdotal evidence that South-South FDI prepares emerging country corporations for venturing into developed economies, by giving them the experience of competing with North companies in the South environment which they know. For example, before targeting Jaguar and Land Rover brands, Tata made important acquisitions in the South Korea and Singapore.

Further, one has to account for firm-specific advantages possessed by corporations from the developing and developed countries. The latter are more likely to possess advantages based on ownership of key assets, such as technologies, brands and intellectual property, while developing country corporations rely more on advantages related to production process capabilities, networks and organizational structure (UNCTAD, 2006). This could lead to substitution relationship if firms rely on their different strengths to compete within the same industries. Alternatively, it can lead to a complementary relationship between multinationals from the South and the North as a number of investors from the South rely on a business model of serving multinationals from the North (which already exists in technology equipment, IT services, household appliance).

<sup>7</sup> For example, in Vietnam TVs made by Chines TLC are the most popular brand as their powerful color receivers provide clear picture even in remote areas.

To the best of our knowledge, no study has explored a potential substitution or complementarity between South-South FDI and the ability of developed economies to invest in the South.<sup>8</sup> Methodologically, such a study would be related to the literature on the impact of FDI on domestic investment (Borensztein *et al.* 1998; Agosin and Machado, 2005). It would also be linked to a more recent literature that looks at the effect of emerging large FDI recipients, such as China, on the amount of FDI received by other developing countries (Eichengreen and Tong, 2007; Fung *et al.*, 2008; Garcia-Herrero and Santabarbara, 2007; Mercereau, 2005). These papers find that FDI flows to China do not crowd-out FDI flows to other emerging economies in Asia, Latin America and Central and Eastern Europe.

It is important to mention that such a test should be viewed as an additional tool to analyze whether FDI from the South are driven by the same forces as FDI from the North. As our earlier discussion implies, a complementary relationship would suggest that FDI from the North and South are different owing to different firm-specific advantages and/or choices of industries and sectors.

#### 3. THE DATA

To address these issues, we construct a novel comprehensive database of bilateral annual data on FDI inflows that, in addition to developed countries, the North, encompasses a significant number of investing countries from the South.

The data for developed countries come from the OECD statistics; while for other countries we use bilateral FDI inflow data from national sources, ASEAN, and UNCTAD (for details, see Appendix 1 – Data Sources). In total, the dataset covers 82 host countries, of which 60 are located in the South; as well as 163 source countries, of which 139 are from the South. The coverage is almost complete for receiving Latin American, Asian, Central and Eastern European and North African countries<sup>9</sup>, and, if contrasted to the IMF aggregate data on FDI inflows, it accounts for 85 percent of the total world FDI inflows. Even though earlier data are available for the majority of countries, the sample is restricted to the 1996-2007 period, in line with the availability of other indicators. This leaves us with 22,646 annual country-pairs in the bilateral dataset, and with 38 source countries per destination and per year on average.

Over the studied period, there has been a considerable increase in the total amount of FDI inflows (Figure 1). Notably, the amount of investment from the South has been increasing, too, almost doubling between the middle and the end of the considered period. Distinguishing by sub-categories of both investing and receiving countries, the FDI flows from North to North represent half of the total FDI amount of our sample, even though there are only 14.8%

<sup>8</sup> The question of substitution vs complimentarity is not analyzed for the South-North flows because these flows, accounting for just 3 percent of total flows, still do not represent an economically significant amount.

<sup>9</sup> Bilateral data for other African countries does not seem to be available. A notable exception is South Africa; however, this country reports FDI outflows rather than inflows.

of North-North country-pairs in the sample (Table 1). In contrast, South-South investments account for 14.5% of the total FDI amount, while South-South relationship is observed in 41% of the sample. In turn, North-South FDI represent 18.4% of the total FDI flows, while South countries invest relatively little into the North (3.6% of the total volume). Our analysis excludes inflows from islands and countries classified as tax heavens or offshore financial centers.

For the second part of the paper, we additionally construct a panel dataset of receiving South countries, in which all incoming flows are aggregated into the North and South flows. This database contains 399 panel type country-year observations. South flows represent a significant portion of total inflows into a number of developing and transition economies (Figure 2), notably in Asia, but also in poorer countries of each sub-region, such as El Salvador in Latin America, Ethiopia in Africa, or former Republics of Yugoslavia and Central Asian former Republics of the Soviet Union. These countries are recipients of important amounts of regional FDI from richer and bigger neighbors.

All other data come from standard sources: macroeconomic data are from the World Bank Development Indicators; geographic data are from the CEPII distance and geodesic databases; data on average years of schooling are from Cohen and Soto (2007). The data for natural resources are taken from the World Bank database on Natural Resources Wealth and is calculated as the present value of future rents from subsoil natural resources (oil, gas, coal, bauxite, copper, gold, iron, etc.) per capita. The definitions and descriptive statistics of all variables are provided in Appendix 2.

The data on institutions are from the World Bank Governance Matters database, described in Kaufmann *et al.* (2010). We work with six available measures of institutional quality – voice and accountability; political stability and lack of violence; government effectiveness; regulatory quality; rule of law; and control for corruption. By relying on simple averages of these indicators, we construct annual differences between mean institutions in source and destination country. Based on these data, we construct a measure of institutional distance as an absolute distance between institutions in origin and destination countries.

To differentiate between FDI in host countries with better or worst institutions than at home, we construct two additional measures. Positive (negative) institutional distance is equal to an absolute institutional difference between origin and destination countries when institutions at home are better/worse than in the host country, and zero otherwise. Please note that a positive institutional distance refers always to the investment in countries with worse institutions, *i.e.* it is "positive" because institutions of the origin countries are superior.

The countries of our database exhibit a significant variation in institutional quality. As shown in Table 1 Panel A, institutional disparities are, naturally, the largest between North and South countries. At the same time, institutional differences are much wider among South-South investors as opposed to North-North investors, highlighting the diversity of countries that are partners in South-South relationships, as well as a potential different behavior of investors from the South. The latter hypothesis is reinforced in the last column of Table 1. Whereas inflows from North to either North or South countries are negatively correlated with institutional differences between source and host countries, which is a common finding in the literature (Habib and Zurawicki, 2002; Bénassy-Quéré *et al.*, 2007), South-South flows exhibit a positive correlation with institutional differences.

A further look at the disaggregated institutions and their correlation with FDI inflows suggests that the latter finding only holds for South economies investing into worse institutions (Table 1, Panel B, column 6). In other words, South investors seem to be directed into countries with poorer institutional quality. However, for South countries investing into better South countries (Table 1, Panel C), such correlation is next to nil. In all other instance, larger discrepancies between home and host institutions in both directions are negatively correlated with FDI inflows.

Correlation coefficients between FDI inflows and resources in host countries hint at the possible trade-off between institutions and resources as attractors of FDI, notably for receiving South countries. Both South and North investors invest into institutionally worse economies which possess resources (Panel B, last column). In contrast, when both South and North countries choose institutionally better South economies, the latter tend not to have substantial resources (Panel C, last column).

#### 4. METHODOLOGY AND RESULTS

# 4.1. Institutions and other determinants of bilateral FDI: are investors from the South different?

To estimate the differences in the investment behavior of investors from the South and North, we rely on the gravity equation, which has become very common in the application to bilateral FDI (Bénassy-Quéré *et al.*, 2007; Daude and Stein, 2007; Javorcik *et al.*, 2011).

In our initial specification, we follow earlier literature that estimates the effect of absolute institutional distance on FDI. To see a differential impact for developing and developed source countries, we interact institutional distance with a dummy variable that takes a value of 1 if source country is located in the North. Hence, we estimate the following model:

$$\ln(FDI_{sdt}) = \alpha_0 + \alpha_1 \ln D_{sd} + \alpha_2 Contig_{sd} + \alpha_3 ComLang_{sd} + \alpha_4 SmCnt_{sd} + \alpha_5 Colony_{sd} + \alpha_6 InstDiff_{sdt} + \alpha_7 InstDiff_{sdt} * North_s + st_{st} + dt_{dt} + u_{sdt},$$
(1)

where  $FDI_{sdt}$  is bilateral uni-directional foreign direct investment from a source country *s* to a destination country *d* at a time *t*, *D* – distance in kilometers between source and destination countries, Contig – a dummy variable equal to 1 if two countries have a common border,

ComLang - a dummy equal to 1 if two countries share a common language, SmCnt - a dummy variable if two countries belonged to the same country in the past, Colony - a dummy variable equal to 1 if two countries share a colonial past, InstDiff - an absolute difference in institutions between source and destination countries and North - a dummy variable equal to 1 if source country is a developed one.

Following Baldwin and Taglioni (2006), we include time-variant source and destination country dummy variables,  $st_{st}$  and  $dt_{dt}$ , in all our specifications in order to remove the cross-section and time-series correlation that result from the omitted variable bias. Moreover, this allows us to control for the omission of term that Anderson and Van Wincoop (2003) refer to as multilateral trade resistance. By definition, such an approach cannot be used in the analysis of the impact of host and home institutions, because these variables cannot be included into the regression such as (1). This provides an additional motivation to focus on institutional distance. Likewise, the dummy variable North is omitted from the regressions, even though we are able to keep the interaction term of this variable with the *InstDiff* variable. To the best of our knowledge, ours is the first paper on institutional distance that includes time-variant source and destination country dummies and, thus, controls for all time-variant source and destination country dummies home and host institutions.

The estimation results for this gravity equation are presented in Column 1 of Table 2. In these estimations, all standard gravity variables are correctly signed and significant at 1 percent level: geographic distance has a negative impact on FDI bilateral flows, while common border, language and colonial history exert a positive influence. The coefficient on the institutional distance should be interpreted as the impact of institutional distance on the FDI outflows from the South, while the sum of this coefficient with the interaction coefficient should be interpreted as the impact on the FDI outflows from the North. As we see, the sum is negative (and statistically significant at 1 percent), reflecting the fact that investors from developed economies prefer to invest in countries with a similar institutional environment. This finding is in line with the results of Habib and Zurawicki (2002) and Bénassy-Quéré et al. (2007) that study FDI flows of OECD countries. When it comes to developing and transition economies as source countries, we observe that institutional distance does not deter their FDI outflows and even has a positive effect, suggesting that investors from the South invest in countries with either much better or much worse institutions than at home<sup>10</sup>. However, in the current setting, it is not possible to see whether it is, in fact, better or worse institutions that stimulate the FDI from the South, because the absolute value of the distance is used.

<sup>10</sup> Institutional distance may be correlated with differences in labor costs between countries. Thus, in the current setting, it may be worthwhile to control for labor cost differences, usually proxied by PPP-adjusted differences in GDP per capita. Unfortunately, these data are not available for half of the sample, and for the majority of South countries. We checked whether the simple current GDP per capita differences can be used instead, and found that the degree of correlation between this measure and institutional differences is actually only 0,13.

To shed more light on this issue, in Column 2 of Table 2, we disaggregate the absolute institutional distance into positive (when institutions in the source country are better than in the destination country) and negative institutional distance (when institutions in the source countries are worse than in the destination country). The idea behind this disaggregation is based on the hypothesis that the effect of positive and negative institutional distance is not symmetric, because investing in countries with much better institutions (large negative institutional distance) could be attractive. This disaggregation plays no role for investors from the North, who always prefer to invest in countries with similar institutions (as suggested by the negative and statistically significant coefficients on the disaggregation is important for investors from the South: our previous result that institutional distance plays a positive role for FDI from the South remains unchanged, but we note that it is fully driven by the positive institutional distance. In other words, investors from the South seem to be attracted by countries with the worst institutions. There is, however, no significant evidence that they are also attracted by best institutions.

This finding that investors from the South pick countries with the worst institutions does not have a plausible explanation, unless we consider natural resources. As discussed in section 2, natural resources could be an important driver of FDI and its omission could bias the results owing to the negative relationship between natural resources endowment and institutions. To control for this, we split the sample into the South and North origin countries, and estimate specifications that include an interaction term between the availability of subsoil resources in host countries and positive or negative institutional distance:<sup>11</sup>

 $\ln(FDI_{sdt}) = \alpha_0 + \alpha_1 \ln D_{sd} + \alpha_2 Contig_{sd} + \alpha_3 ComLang_{sd} + \alpha_4 SmCnt_{sd} + \alpha_5 Colony_{sd} + \alpha_6 PosInstDiff_{sdt} + \alpha_7 PosInstDiff_{-sdt} * \log(Resources_d) + \alpha_6 NegInstDiff_{sdt} + \alpha_7 NegInstDiff_{sdt} * log(Resources_d) + st_{st} + dt_{dt} + u_{sdt},$ (2)

where *PosInstDiff* (*NegInstDiff*) is the absolute difference in institutions between source and destination countries if institutions in a source country are better (worse) than institutions in a destination country and zero otherwise, *Resources* is the value of subsoil assets per capita in a destination country.

Our findings are presented in Table 3 and offer support to the hypothesis that availability of natural resources is an important determinant of FDI from the South and hence cannot be excluded from the estimation. Moreover, controlling for resources changes the signs and significance of the coefficients on institutions, suggesting that omitting this variable indeed biases the results. Columns (1)-(2) of Table 3 contain the results of the baseline specification.

<sup>11</sup> Since we include time-varying source and destination country dummies, the variable for natural resources is dropped in the estimation. But it is preserved in the interaction terms with institutional distance.

Our results lead us to the following conclusions. First, when investors from the South invest in countries with better institutions (negative institutional distance between source and destination country), we observe that a large institutional distance has a positive effect as these investors are attracted by countries with the best institutions. As discussed in Section 2, despite unfamiliarity, such an institutional environment is the most transparent for potential entrants due to the rule of law and low level of corruption. Interestingly, this motive also applies to investors from the North when they invest in other economies with better institutions than at home.

Second, when investors from the South invest in countries with worse institutions (positive institutional distance between source and destination country), they choose countries that are similar in terms of institutional quality. Thus, the implications of previous studies about the deterring role of the institutions are borne out by our estimations for the sample of investors from the North. More generally, our finding that investors from the South prefer to invest in countries with similar institutional environment explains a recent rise in South-South FDI.

Third, those investors from the South that invest in countries with worse institutions are less deterred by an institutional distance when host countries are endowed with a large wealth of natural resources. If we rely on the coefficients in column 5, we find that countries possessing natural resources that are worth more than 4675 USD per capita (top 10 percent of our sample) will attract FDI from investors from the South despite a large institutional distance. To name a few, this concerns such countries as Algeria, Azerbaijan, Kazakhstan, Russia, and Venezuela. Importantly, the interaction between institutional distance and resources is not significant for investors from the North, which are consistently deterred by worse institutions, despite the availability of resources.

Finally, we observe that certain traditional determinants, such as common border and common language, have a much larger impact on investors from the South than investors from the North. While these findings corroborate previous cursory observations of the regional aspect of the South FDI (Aykut and Ratha, 2004; UNCTAD, 2006; BCG Report, 2006), out study is the first attempt to test this hypothesis formally within the gravity model framework.

We provide a number of robustness tests. First, as noted by Aykut and Ratha (2004), Chinese inward FDI flows are often overstated due to round tripping, as Chinese firms move money offshore and then bring it back to China disguised as FDI. To correct for this bias, we estimate our model excluding China as both source and destination country (Columns 3-4). Second, acknowledging potential endogeneity of institutions, we additionally replace *PosInstDiff* and *NegInstDiff* with differences in initial institutions for the year 1996 (*PostInstDiff1996*, *NegInstDiff1996*), the earliest date available in the Kaufman database, and present the estimation results in Column (5-6). This last specification is our preferred one.

#### 4.2. Complements or substitutes?

The analysis in the previous section allows us to conclude that emerging country investors behave differently from investors from developed economies. Geographic and linguistic distance appears to be a larger obstacle for the former ones, while important differences also exist *vis-à-vis* institutional distance and resource attractiveness. Given such differences, we would like to see whether investment flows from the North and the South behave as complements or substitutes. This question is of particular importance for developing host countries where source countries both from the South and North are present.

To explore this issue, one can estimate the determinants of FDI at the aggregated level of destination countries, focusing only on South recipients, and cumulating, on a yearly basis, two broad types of foreign inflows: from the North and from the South. Following the Borensztein *et al.* (1998) methodology of studying the crowding-out effect of FDI on domestic investment, the estimated model would take the following form:

$$FDI_GDP_{dt} = \beta_0 + \beta_1 SouthFDI_GDP_{dt} + \beta_2 Controls_{dt} + \mu_t + \varepsilon_{dt}$$
(3)

where  $FDI_GDP_{dt}$  is a ratio of total FDI to GDP in destination country *d* at time *t*, *SouthFDI\_GDP<sub>dt</sub>* is the amount of foreign direct investment from South investors over GDP in country *d* at time *t*,  $\mu_t$  is a set of year fixed effects, and *Controls<sub>dt</sub>* is a set of determinants of FDI. Apart from traditional factors, such as the level of initial income, the level of initial human capital, government consumption, and host institutions (see also Mercereau, 2005), we augment this specification by natural resources endowment. To see potential differences in North-South FDI relationship in resource-rich and resource-poor countries, we also interact South FDI flows with resources.

If aggregate FDI flows from the South simply augment total FDI, the coefficient on this variable should equal to one. However, if FDI flows from South investors augment total FDI more than one-to-one, in other words, if there is a complementary relationship between South and North FDI, the coefficient on this variable should be greater than one. By the same token, a coefficient below one would imply the substitution between two types of flows.

Estimation results based on this approach are summarized in Table 4, column (1). The coefficient on South FDI is found to be significantly greater than one, while the interaction term is positive and also statistically significant. The effect of a marginal increase in South FDI, evaluated at the mean value of natural resources, on the overall share of FDI to GDP is of the order of 2.486. This suggests that in the absence of natural resources, aggregate South investment inflows increase aggregate total investment more than one for one, or that South

FDI are complementary to North FDI. In the presence of natural resources, this complementary effect is actually amplified.<sup>12</sup>

The regression in Table 4 column (1) does not control for country fixed effects. This is deliberate, as we are interested in seeing the effect of standard determinants of FDI suggested by the literature, some of which do not vary over time. The non-inclusion of country fixed effects, however, may affect both the coefficients on these regressors and on  $SouthFDI_GDP_{dt}$ , especially if some of the omitted country characteristics are correlated both with South and North FDI. We thus repeat the estimation controlling for country fixed effects (Table 4, column 2). Indeed, both the coefficient on  $SouthFDI_GDP_{dt}$  and the coefficient on the  $SouthFDI_GDP_{dt}$  and resources are smaller than the coefficients obtained in column (1), suggesting that part of the positive bias has been eliminated by including these terms. Nevertheless, both the individual and the total effect of  $SouthFDI_GDP_{dt}$  remain greater than one.

In addition to this, to control for the endogeneity of our variable of interest due to simultaneity, and also to test the complementarity hypothesis in the long run, we estimate specification (3) using the Blundell and Bond (1998) system GMM estimator, which is a joint estimation of the equation in levels and in first differences. Adoption of this methodology is motivated by a similar application by Agosin and Machado (2005) to testing long-run complementarity between foreign and domestic investment. In column (3) of Table 4, we embrace a specification that allows the current total amount of foreign investment to depend on the current and lagged value of South FDI, as well as on the lagged value of total investment. Given the time-invariance of resources, it is interacted only with the current level of South FDI. In column (4), we also inquire into a possible longer-term relationship, including two lags of the South and total investment variables. In both cases, we use year effects and previous GDP growth proxying returns on investment (Gastanaga, Nugent, and Pashamova, 1998) as instruments in GMM estimation. Both specifications fare well according to tests of first and second order serial correlation; and also Sargan test does not allow rejecting the null hypothesis of the validity of the instruments. Based on these two specifications, the computed complementarity effect between South and North FDI ranges from 2.372 to 3.375.<sup>13</sup> Given the careful treatment of endogeneity, we can attribute this result to crowding-in of investors from the North by investors from the South. The amplifying effect of natural resources endowment on this complementary relationship, however, is not robust.

<sup>12</sup> In the current setting, we are not able to see whether this complementarity concerns only the resource FDI, or the resource and non-resource FDI. The distinction may be important, as suggested, for instance, by Poelhekke and Ploeg (2010).

<sup>13</sup> Long term effect of South FDI is equal to the sum of short-term coefficients on South FDI divided by 1 minus the sum of coefficients of the lagged dependent variable:  $\hat{\beta}_{LT}(FDI_s) = \frac{\sum \hat{\beta}_{ST}(FDI_s)}{1 - \sum \hat{\beta}(FDI_T)}$ .

Finally, to mitigate the volatility of yearly data, we also confirm these results in column (5), re-estimating equation (3) on cross-section data averaged for the studied period. Despite small sample size, our results of complementarity between investment from the North and the South remain valid.<sup>14</sup>

#### 5. CONCLUSIONS

While South-South FDI flows constitute one-third of total foreign investment in developing and transition economies, there has been a lack of a systematic study of the determinants and implications of such flows, mainly due to data limitations. We attempt to fill this gap by relying on our novel dataset of FDI flows and ask two simple questions: (1) Do foreign investors from the South behave differently than investors from the North; and (2) Do investment from the South serve as complement or substitute to the investment from the North?

We demonstrate that FDI from the South has a more regional exposure than investment from developed countries, as common border and common distance appear to be more important for the former investors. Whereas we confirm previous findings that large institutional distance deters investors from the North, the relationship between FDI and institutional distance is more complex for emerging economies. Our findings lead us to the following conclusions. First, when countries from the South invest in countries with better institutions, institutional distance can be viewed as a driving force. This is likely due to the "asset-seeking" nature of FDI, as emerging investors acquire new technologies, brands, and intellectual property, which are more likely to be found in good institutional environment. Second, when emerging economies invest in countries with worse institutions, they are on average deterred by a large institutional distance, even though the effect is weaker in the case of South-South FDI. Third, such a negative effect of an institutional distance is outweighed by the appeal of natural resources, which appears to be a very important force behind FDI from the emerging economies that strive to secure the possession of subsoil resources.

<sup>14</sup> Having considered the impact of the South FDI on the flows originated in the North, one can also wonder about the reverse impact, namely whether FDI from the North crowd-in or crowd-out investors from the South. To address this issue, we estimate Equation 4 with FDI from the North as an explanatory variable and our findings indicate a crowding-in effect as well. Thus, there is a mutually reinforcing relationship between FDI from the South and the North. This might appear surprising at first, because the estimated equations imply that an increase in USD10f the South FDI should lead to a larger increase of the total FDI and the same applies to an increase in the North FDI, which is not possible if total FDI are equal to the sum of FDI from the North and the South. However, such identity does not have to hold if we rely on lags of our explanatory variables, as is the case in specifications 2-3. In specifications 1 and 4, the above identity should hold for each country, but not in the cross-country context. For example, FDI flows from China to India could crowd-out an investor from the West in India, but motivate this investor to redirect its investment to another developing country.

Ignoring bad institutions in a search of natural resources could pose serious problems for investors from the South in the future. Recently, a combination of bad institutions, growing strategic importance of natural resources, and large windfalls have led to the nationalization of oil and gas resources in Bolivia, Venezuela and Ecuador. In these instances, investors from the North have borne the costs. It remains to be seen whether these were isolated cases whether a perceived loss of control over natural assets, with implications for national security, will motivate other countries with poor property rights protection to renegotiate contracts signed with foreign investors with the aim of increasing the state control.

The emergence of new multinational corporations in the South does not displace other investors and, if anything, appears to be rather complementary to FDI from the North. Given our careful treatment of endogeneity, we can talk about a crowding-in of investment from the North by emerging country investors. We attribute this outcome to differences in investment behavior between developed and developing economies.

#### REFERENCES

ACEMOGLU, D., S. JOHNSON and J. ROBINSON (2005), Institutions as the fundamental cause of long-run growth, in *Handbook of Economic Growth*, ed. by P. Aghion and S. Durlauf.

ACEMOGLU, D., J.A. ROBINSON and T. VERDIER (2004), Kleptocracy and divide-and-rule: a theory of personal rule, *Journal of the European Economic Association*, 2, 162-192.

ACEMOGLU, D. and J.A. ROBINSON (2006), Economic backwardness in political perspective, *American Political Science Review*, 100-131.

ADES, A. and R. DI TELLA (1999), Rents, competition, and corruption, *American Economic Review*, 89, 982-993.

AGOSIN, M. R. and R. MACHADO (2005), Foreign direct investment in developing countries: does it crowd in domestic investment?, *Oxford Development Studies*, 33(2), 149-162.

ANDERSON, J. and D. MARCOUILLER (2002), Insecurity and the pattern of trade: an empirical investigation, *Review of Economics and Statistics*, 84, 342–52.

ALFARO, L., S. KALEMLI-OZCAN, V. VOLOSOVYCH (2008), Why doesn't capital flow from rich to poor countries? An empirical investigation, *Review of Economics and Statistics*, 90 (2), 347-368.

ASIEDU, E. (2006), Foreign direct investment in Africa: the role of natural resources, market size, covernment policy, institutions and political instability, *World Economy*, 29(1), 63–77.

AYKUT, A. D. and D. RATHA (2004), South-South FDI flows: how big are they?, *Transnational Corporations*, 13(1), 149-176.

BALDWIN, R. and D. TAGLIONI (2006), Gravity for dummies and dummies for gravity equations, *NBER Working Paper*, No. 12516.

BANERJEE, A. and L. IYER (2005), History, institutions, and economic performance: the legacy of colonial land tenure Ssystems in India, *American Economic Review*, 95 (4), 1190-1213.

BÉNASSY-QUÉRÉ, A., M. COUPET and T. MAYER (2007), Institutional determinants of foreign direct investment, *World Economy*, 30(5) 764-782.

BERA, S. and S. GUPTA (2009), South-South FDI vs North-South FDI: a comparative analysis in the context of India, *ICRIER Working Paper*, No. 238.

BHATTACHARYYA, S. and R. HODLER (2010), Natural resources, democracy and corruption, *European Economic Review*, 54(4), 608-621.

BLUNDELL, R. and S. BOND (1998), GMM estimation with persistent panel data: an application to production functions, *Journal of Econometrics*, 87(1), 115-143.

BORENSZTEIN, E., J. DE GREGORIO and J. LEE (1998), How does Foreign Direct Investment affect economic growth?, *Journal of International Economics*, 45, 115-135.

BOSTON CONSULTING GROUP (2006), The new global challengers. How 100 top companies from rapidly developing economies are changing the World. A Report. Boston.

BROLLO, Fernanda, Tommaso. NANNICINI, Roberto PEROTTI, and Guido TABELLINI (2010), *CEPR Discussion Paper*, 7672.

BUCKLEY, P.J., J. CLEGG, A.R. CROSS, X. LIU, H. VOSS and P. ZHENG (2007), The determinants of Chinese outward foreign direct investment, *Journal of International Business Studies*, 38 (4), 499-518.

BUSSE, M. and C. HEFEKER (2007), Political risk, institutions and foreign direct investment, *European Journal of Political Economy*, Elsevier, 23(2), 397-415.

CLAESSENS, S. and N. VAN HOREN (2008), Location decisions of foreign banks and institutional competitive advantage, *DNB Working Papers*, 172.

COHEN, D. and M. SOTO (2007), Growth and human capital: good data, good results, *Journal of Economic Growth*, 12(1), 51-76.

COLLIER, P. and A. HOEFFLER (2004), Greed and grievance in civil wars, *Oxford Economic Papers*, 56, 663-695.

COLLIER, P., A. HOEFFLER and M. SODERBOM (2004), On the duration of civil war, *Journal of Peace Research*, 41, 253-273.

CUERVO-CAZURRA, A. (2006), Who cares about corruption?, *Journal of International Business Studies*, 37, 807–822.

CUERVO-CAZURRA, A. and M. GENC (2008), Transforming disadvantages into advantages: developing-country MNEs in the least developed countries, *Journal of International Business Studies*, 39, 957–979.

DARBY, J., R. DESBORDES and I. WOOTON (2009), Does public governance always matter? How experience of poor institutional quality influences FDI to the South, *CEPR Discussion Paper Series*, No. 7533.

DAUDE D. and E. STEIN (2007), The quality of institutions and foreign direct investment, *Economics and Politics*, 19(3), 317-344.

DU, J., L.YI and Z. TAO (2008), Economic institutions and FDI location choice: evidence from US multinationals in China, *Journal of Comparative Economics*, 36, 412–429.

ECONOMIST, The, (2009), The dragon in the backyard, *The Economist Newspaper* and *The Economist Group*, August 13th.

EICHENGREEN, B. and TONG, H. (2007), Is China's FDI coming at the expense of other countries?, *Journal of the Japanese and International Economies*, 21(2), 153-172.

FUNG, K.C., I. KORHONEN,, K. LI and F. NG (2008), China and Central and Eastern European countries: regional networks, global supply chain, or international competitors?, *The World Bank Policy Research Working Paper Series*, 4689.

GARCIA-HERRERO, A. and D. SANTABARBARA (2007), <u>Does China Have an Impact on</u> Foreign Direct Investment to Latin America?, <u>China Economic Review</u> 18(3), 266-286.

GASTANAGA, V., J. NUGENT and B. PASHAMOVA (1998), Host country reform and FDI inflows: how much difference do the make?, *World Development*, 26(7), 1299-1314.

HABIB, M. and L. ZURAWICKI (2002), Corruption and foreign direct investment, *Journal of International Business* Studies, 33(2), 291-307.

HINES, J.R. (1995), Forbidden payment: foreign bribery and american business after 1977, *NBER Working Paper*, No. 5266.

ISHAM, J., L. PRITCHETT, M. WOOLCOCK and G. BUSBY (2003), The varieties of the resource experience: how natural resource export structures affect the political economy of economic growth, *World Bank*, Washington D.C.

JAVORCIK, B. S., Ç. ÖZDEN, M. SPATAREANU and C. NEAGU (2011), Migrant networks and foreign direct investment, *Journal of Development Economics*, 94(2), 231-241.

KAUFMANN, D., A. KRAAY, and M. MASTRUZZI (2010), The worldwide governance indicators: methodology and analytical issues, *Policy Research Working Paper Series*, The World Bank, 5430.

KAUFMANN, D., A. KRAAY, E. LORA and L. PRITCHETT (2002), Growth without governance, *Economía*, 3(1), pp. 169-229.

LEVCHENKO, A. (2007), Institutional Quality and International Trade, *Review of Economic Studies*, 74(3), 791-819.

LUCAS, Robert E. (1990), Why Doesn't Capital Flow from Rich to Poor Countries?, *American Economic Review*, 80, 92–96.

MERCEREAU, B. (2005), FDI flows to Asia: did the Dragon crowd out the Tigers?, *IMF Working Papers*, 05/189.

NARITOMI, J., R. SOARES and J. ASSUNÇÃO (2007), Rent seeking and the unveiling of 'de facto' institutions: development and colonial heritage within Brazil, *NBER Working Papers*, No. 13545.

NAUDÉ, W. A. and W.F. KRUGELL (2007), Investigating geography and institutions as determinants of foreign direct investment in Africa using panel data, *Applied Economics*, 39, 1223–1233.

PAPAIOANNOU, E. (2009), What drives international financial flows? Politics, institutions and other determinants, *Journal of Development Economics*, 88 (2), 269-281.

POELHEKKE, S. and F. VAN DER PLOEG (2010), Do natural resources attract FDI? Evidence from non-stationary sector-level data, *CEPR Discussion Paper Series*, No. 8079.

ROBINSON, J., R. TORVIK and T. VERDIER (2006), Political foundations of the resource curse, *Journal of Development Economics*, 79, 447-468.

RODRIK, D., A. SUBRAMANIAN and F. TREBBI (2004), Institutions rule: the primacy of institutions over geography and integration in economic development, *Journal of Economic Growth* 9, (2), 131-165.

ROSS, M.L. (2004), What do we know about natural resources and civil war?, *Journal of Peace Economics*, 41, 337-356.

SHLEIFER, A. and R. W. VISHNY (1993), Corruption, *Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 108(3), 599-617.

VAN DER PLOEG, R. (2010), Natural resources: curse or blessing?, *Journal of Economic Literature*, forthcoming.

VICENTE, P.R. (2010), Does oil corrupt? Evidence from a natural experiment in West Africa, *Journal of Development Economics*, 92, 1, 28-38.

WHEELER, D. and A. MODY (1992), International investment location decisions. The case of U.S. firms, *Journal of International Economics*, 33, 57-76.

WEI, S.-J. (2000), How taxing is corruption on international investors, *Review of Economics* and *Statistics*, 82(1), 1-11.

WORLD BANK (2006), Global development finance: the development potential of surging capital flows. Chapter 4: Financial integration among developing countries, The World Bank, Washington, D.C.

UNCTAD (2006), FDI from developing and transition economies: implications for development, *World Investment Report*.

UNCTAD (2007), Transnational corporations, extractive industries and development, *World Investment Report*.

UNCTAD (2010), Investing in a low-carbon economy, World Investment Report.



Figure 1: The Dynamics of FDI Inflows

Source: Own estimations.





# Table 1: Summary Statistics of Bilateral Inflows, 1996-2007

Type of FDI Relationship	Mean annual yearly flows; in mln USD	Aggregate flows for the period: percent of total	Observations: percent of total sample	Absolute institutional distance between partner countries	Correlation between inflows and absolute institutional difference	Correlation between host resources and inflows
South-South	96800	14.5	40.9	0.727	0.092	0.013
North-North	423000	63.3	14.8	0.380	-0.227	0.216
North-South	24500	18.4	26.8	1.528	-0.118	0.210
South-North	123170	3.6	17.4	1.439	-0.155	0.164

# Panel A : Full Gravity Sample

# Panel B: Sub-Sample with Positive Institutional Distance

Type of FDI Relationship	Mean annual yearly flows; in mln USD	Aggregate flows for the period: percent of total	Observations: percent of sub-sample	Positive institutional difference between partner countries	Correlation between inflows and positive institutional difference	Correlation between host resources and inflows
South-South	78300	19.6	37.9	0.769	0.145	0.130
North-North	200000	49.8	14.5	0.385	-0.210	0.266
North-South	2350	30.1	46.3	1.563	-0.132	0.219
South-North	119000	0.44	1.2	0.293	-0.175	0.235

# Panel C: Sub-Sample with Negative Institutional Distance

Type of FDI Relationship	Mean annual yearly flows; in mln USD	Aggregate flows for the period: percent of total	Observations: percent of sub-sample	Negative institutional difference between partner countries	Correlation between inflows and negative institutional difference	Correlation between host resources and inflows
South-South	18500	6.9	40.8	0.685	-0.003	-0.119
North-North	223000	83.3	16.9	0.369	-0.210	0.196
North-South	22800	1.2	1.5	0.275	-0.132	-0.138
South-North	4170	8.5	40.6	1.511	-0.175	0.167

Source: own calculations.

#### Table 2: Institutional and Other Gravity-Type Determinants of FDI Flows

	With absolute institutional distance	Positive and negative inst. distance
	(1)	(2)
lnD	-0.872***	-0.877***
	(0.0221)	(0.0222)
Contig	0.395***	0.391***
C	(0.0646)	(0.0647)
ComLang	0.642***	0.644***
C	(0.0537)	(0.0537)
Colony	0.820***	0.811***
5	(0.0676)	(0.0677)
SmCnt	0.739***	0.745***
	(0.0973)	(0.0975)
InstDiff	0.322***	
	(0.0344)	
InstDiff*North	-0.438***	
	(0.0580)	
PostInstDiff		0.477***
		(0.122)
PostInstDiff*North		-0.406***
		(0.0598)
NegInstDiff		0.133
		(0.108)
NegInstDiff*North		-0.752***
		(0.139)
Constant	17.35***	23.48***
	(0.829)	(0.661)
Time variant country dummies	Yes	Yes
Observations	22646	22646
K-squared	0.642	0.642

Dependent variable: lnFDI

Column (1) presents estimation with an absolute institutional distance; (2) with positive and negative institutional distance. All models include time variant destination and source dummy variables.

\*, \*\*, \*\*\* - statistical significance at 10%, 5%, and 1% levels, respectively.

#### Table 3: Institutional distance and resources as determinants of FDI

Dependent variable: lnFDI

	Base	eline	Exl. China		Exc. China,	with initial
	Couth	North	South	North	Institu South	North
-	1	2	3		5	- Norun
lnD	-0.803***	-0.976***	-0.766***	-0.966***	-0.758***	-0.954***
	(0.0361)	(0.0371)	(0.0385)	(0.0375)	(0.0456)	(0.0434)
Contig	0.638***	0.0287	0.819***	0.0316	0.883***	0.0896
	(0.0838)	(0.123)	(0.0933)	(0.123)	(0.112)	(0.136)
ComLang	1.004***	0.162*	0.921***	0.175*	1.046***	0.0746
	(0.0701)	(0.0923)	(0.0753)	(0.0926)	(0.0885)	(0.108)
Colony	0.372***	1.518***	0.458***	1.511***	0.568***	1.393***
SmCnt	(0.0888)	(0.110)	(0.0932)	(0.110)	(0.113)	(0.132)
SIIICIII	(0.116)	(0.218)	(0.176)	(0.220)	0.205	(0.407)
PostInstDiff	-1.475***	-1.917***	-1.561***	-1.903***	(0.155)	(0.497)
	(0.170)	(0.259)	(0.218)	(0.260)		
PostInstDiff*Resources	0.0918***	0.0246	0.0840***	0.0220		
	(0.0214)	(0.0288)	(0.0221)	(0.0288)		
NegInstDiff	1.292***	0.814**	1.456***	0.773*		
	(0.152)	(0.399)	(0.184)	(0.402)		
NegInstDiff*Resources	0.0227	0.0711	0.0133	0.0726		
	(0.0144)	(0.0466)	(0.0154)	(0.0465)		
PostInstDiff1996					-0.803*	-2.306**
					(0.470)	(0.943)
PostInstDiff1996*Resources					0.0950***	-0.0564
					(0.0291)	(0.0380)
NegInstDiff1996					0.833*	1.599
					(0.472)	(1.020)
NegInstDiff1996*Resources					0.0167	0.0764
0	17 00***	00 15***	00 51 ***	16 60***	(0.0201)	(0.0585)
Constant	17.98***	20.45***	20.51***	16.62***	22.91***	24.15***
TT:	(0.633)	(0.789)	(0.720)	(0.869)	(1.563)	(5.541)
dummios	Vac	Vos	Vas	Vos	Vas	Vos
Observations	105	105	10551	1 CS 8725	108	6170
Dusci valions Descuered	0.508	0921	0.610	0733	1203	0179
R-squared	0.598	0.651	0.619	0.649	0.657	0.677

All estimations contain the full set of time variant source and destination fixed effects.

\*, \*\*, \*\*\* - statistical significance at 10%, 5%, and 1% levels, respectively.

#### Table 4: Complementarity or Substitution between Investment from the South and the North

	A-la Borensztein	A-la Borensztein	Blundell and	Blundell and Bond	A-la
	et al. (1998)	et al. (1998)	Bond (1998) +	(1998) +	Borensztein
		Inclusind country	Borensztein	Borensztein	et al. (1998)
		fixed effects	et al. (1998)	et al. (1998)	Cross-section
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)
FDISouth	1.731***	1.161*** <sup>a</sup>	1.385***	1.278***	2.153***
	(0.193)	(0.165)	(0.383)	(0.403)	(0.587)
Resources	9.39e-07		2.15e-06	-3.51e-06	-1.90e-07
	(9.38e-07)		(2.76e-06)	(5.40e-06)	(2.06e-06)
FDISouth*Resources	0.00023***	0.0001***	2.01e-05	-8.71e-05	0.001**
	(4.9e-05)	(0.00004)	(8.05e-05)	(0.000150)	(0.0001)
Initial Income (1996)	-0.003		-0.003	-0.008	-0.003
	(0.003)		(0.004)	(0.008)	(0.007)
Initial Education (1996)	0.003***		-0.001	-0.003	0.002
	(0.001)		(0.004)	(0.005)	(0.002)
Gov. Consumption	0.005	0.007	0.010	-0.004	0.009
	(0.006)	(0.012)	(0.019)	(0.021)	(0.014)
Host Institutions	0.018***	0.022**	-0.005	-0.006	0.017*
	(0.004)	(0.010)	(0.014)	(0.016)	(0.009)
FDISouth (-1)			-0.702**	-0.559*	
			(0.334)	(0.303)	
FDISouth (-2)				-0.453	
				(0.480)	
Total FDI (-1)			0.712***	0.787***	
			(0.087)	(0.184)	
Total FDI (-2)				0.002	
				(0.199)	
Constant	-0.067**		0.011	0.105	0.005
	(0.028)		(0.084)	(0.128)	(0.053)
N Obs	352	382	303	276	37
R-squared	0.524	0.685			0.704
Sargan (p-value)			0.384	0.225	
First-order serial					
correlation (p-value)			0.093	0.038	
Second-order serial					
correlation (p-value)			0.323	0.432	
Computed total effect:	2.486	1.503	2.372	3.375	

Dependent Variable: Total FDI over GDP

Columns 1, 2 and 5 are estimated by OLS and include the full set of year fixed effects; reported are robust standard errors. Column 2 contains the full set of country fixed effects. Columns 3 and 4 are estimated using the one-step generalized method of moments. Instruments in GMM estimation: time dummies and GDP growth. Statistical significance at \* 10%, \*\* 5%, and \*\*\* 1%, respectively.

<sup>a</sup> Test of the hypothesis that the coefficient is greater or equal to one: P-value = 0.954. Test of the hypothesis that the coefficient is smaller or equal to one: P-value = 0.045.

# Appendix 1: Sources of FDI Data

Countries	Sources
Argentina, Armenia, Belarus, Bosnia and Herzegovina, Brazil, Bolivia, Colombia, Costa Rica, Croatia, Czech Rep, Dominican Rep, Ecuador, El Salvador, Estonia, Honduras, Hungary, Georgia, Kazakhstan, Latvia, Lithuania, Moldova, Macedonia, Pakistan, Peru, Slovenia, Ukraine	Balance of Payments/ National Central Banks
Chile	Chilean Foreign Investment Committee
Bulgaria, Russia, Serbia and Montenegro	The Vienna Institute for International Economic Studies
Algeria, Azerbaijan, Ethiopia, Kyrgyzstan, Mongolia	UNCTAD
India	Indian Ministry of Commerce and Industry
Brunei, Cambodia, Malaysia, the Philippines, Indonesia, Myanmar, Laos, Singapore, Thailand, Vietnam	Balance of Payments /Statistics of Foreign Direct Investment in ASEAN
Bangladesh	Board of Investment; National Central Bank
Morocco	Office des Changes
Tunisia	Ministry of Development and International Cooperation
China	China Statistical Yearbooks
Hong Kong	Balance of Payment/ Census and Statistics Department
Taiwan	Investment Commission, MOEA
Sri Lanka	Board of Investment of Sri Lanka
Australia, Austria, Belgium, Canada, Denmark, Finland	OECD Statistics
France, Germany, Greece, Iceland, Ireland, Italy, Japan	
Luxembourg, Mexico, The Netherlands, New Zealand	
Norway, Poland, Portugal, Slovak Republic, South Korea, Spain, Sweden, Switzerland, Turkey, United Kingdom, United States	

# **Appendix 2: Variable Description and Sample Statistics**

Variable	Description	Obs	Mean	St. Dev.	Min	Max
Dep.Var. in the Gra	wity Sample					
Linflows	Natural logarithm of total annual bilateral FDI inflows, mln, current USD	22646	15.90	3.06	2.69	26.53
Indep.Var. in the G	ravity Sample					
LnD	Natural logarithm of km of simple distance between most populated cities	22646	8.22	1.07	4.09	9.90
Contig	1 for contiguity	22646	0.09	0.28	0.00	1.00
ComLang	1 if a language is spoken by at least 9% of the population in both countries	22646	0.15	0.36	0.00	1.00
Colony	1 for pairs ever in colonial relationship	22646	0.06	0.23	0.00	1.00
SmCnt	1 if countries ever were the same country	22646	0.03	0.18	0.00	1.00
InstDiff	Simple absolute difference between means of institutional indicators (control of corruption, government effectiveness, political stability and lack of violence, regulatory quality, rule of law, voice and accountability) in source and in destination countries	22646	1.02	0.75	0.00	3.89
PosInstDiff	Absolute difference between institutional indicators, if institutions in source country are better (worse) than institutions in destination countries.	22646	0.58	0.77	0.00	3.59
NegInstDiff	Absolute difference between institutional indicators, if institutions in source country are worse than institutions in destination countries.	22646	0.43	0.69	0.00	3.89
RelInstDiff	The absolute difference between the means of institutions of the source and of destination country, divided by the average absolute difference between the institutional quality of each alternative source country and that of the destination country (Claessens and Van Horen, 2008)	22646	0.99	0.68	0.00	3.84
North	Dichotomous variable equal to 1 for developed (North) source countries, 0 for developing (South)	22646	0.41	0.49	0.00	1.00
Resources	Natural logarithm of the subsoil resources in USD dollars per capita in the destination country	21484	5.57	2.66	0.00	11.26
Dep.Var. in the Agg	gregate Sample					
TotalFDI/GDP	Sum of flows from North and South investors, aggregated by host country and year, and divided by current GDP	508	0.06	0.07	0.00	0.84

# Suite Appendix 2

Variable	Description	Obs	Mean	St. Dev.	Min	Max		
Indep.Var. in the Ag	Indep.Var. in the Aggregate Sample							
FDI_South	Sum of flows from South investors, aggregated by host country and year, and divided by current GDP	508	0.01	0.03	0.00	0.28		
Log of Initial Income	Natural logarithm of GDP in 1996	508	7.54	0.88	5.42	9.87		
Initial Education	Years of Schooling in 1990	508	6.84	2.21	2.20	10.50		
Log of Gov. Consumption	Natural logarithm of total government consumption over GDP	508	22.55	1.60	18.70	26.86		
Dummy for Africa	Dichotomous variable equal 1 if the host country is in Africa; zero otherwise	508	0.02	0.12	0.00	1.00		
Dummy for Asia	Dichotomous variable equal 1 if the host country is in Asia; zero otherwise	508	0.20	0.40	0.00	1.00		
Dummy for Latin America	Dichotomous variable equal 1 if the host country is in Latin America; zero otherwise	508	0.37	0.48	0.00	1.00		
Institutions, domestic	Means of institutional indicators in the host country	427	-0.06	0.64	-1.28	1.55		
Resources	Subsoil resources in USD dollars per capita in the destination country	421	2124.49	2651.11	0	11670		
Inflation	Inflation, consumer prices (annual, %)	493	38.96	357.25	-8.52	7481.66		

# An Exhaustive list is available on the website: \\www.cepii.fr.

No	Title	Authors
2011-04b	What International Monetary System for a fast- changing World Economy?	A. Bénassy-Quéré & J. Pisani-Ferry
2011-04a	Quel système monétaire international pour une économie mondiale en mutation rapide ?	A. Bénassy-Quéré & J. Pisani-Ferry
2011-03	China's Foreign Trade in the Perspective of a more Balanced Economic Growth	G. Gaulier, F. Lemoine & D. Ünal
2011-02	The Interactions between the Credit Default Swap and the Bond Markets in Financial Turmoil	V. Coudert & M. Gex
2011-01	Comparative Advantage and Within-Industry Firms Performance	M. Crozet & F. Trionfetti
2010-33	Export Performance and Credit Constraints in China	J. Jarreau & S. Poncet
2010-32	Export Performance of China's Domestic Firms: the Role of Foreign Export Spillovers	F. Mayneris & S. Poncet
2010-31	Wholesalers in International Trade	M. Crozet, G. Lalanne & S. Poncet
2010-30	TVA et taux de marge : une analyse empirique sur données d'entreprises	P. Andra, M. Carré & A. Bénassy-Quéré
2010-29	Economic and cultural assimilation and integration of immigrants in europe	M. Aleksynska & Y. Algan
2010-28	Les firmes françaises dans le commerce de service	G. Gaulier, E. Milet & D. Mirza
2010-27	The World Economy in 2050: a Tentative Picture	J. Fouré, A. Bénassy-Quéré & L. Fontagné
2010-26	Determinants and Pervasiveness of the Evasion of Customs Duties	S. Jean & C. Mitaritonna

No	Title	Authors
2010-25	On the Link between Credit Procyclicality and Bank Competition	V. Bouvatier, A. Lopez-Villavicencio & V. Mignon
2010-24	Are Derivatives Dangerous? A Literature Survey	G. Capelle-Blancard
2010-23	BACI: International Trade Database at the Product- Level – The 1994-2007 Version	G. Gaulier & S. Zignago
2010-22	Indirect Exporters	F. McCann
2010-21	Réformes des retraites en France : évaluation de la mise en place d'un système par comptes notionnels	X. Chojnicki & R. Magnani
2010-20	The Art of Exceptions: Sensitive Products in the Doha Negotiations	C. Gouel, C. Mitaritonna & M.P. Ramo
2010-19	Measuring Intangible Capital Investment: an Application to the "French Data	V. Delbecque & L. Nayman
2010-18	Clustering the Winners: The French Policy of Competitiveness Clusters	L. Fontagné, P. Koenig, F. Mayneris & S. Poncet
2010-17	The Credit Default Swap Market and the Settlement of Large Defauts	V. Coudert & M. Gex
2010-16	The Impact of the 2007-10 Crisis on the Geography of Finance	G. Capelle-Blancard & Y. Tadjeddine
2010-15	Socially Responsible Investing: It Takes more than Words	G. Capelle-Blancard & S. Monjon
2010-14	A Case for Intermediate Exchange-Rate Regimes	V. Salins & A. Bénassy-Quéré
2010-13	Gold and Financial Assets: Are they any Safe Havens in Bear Markets?	V. Coudert & H. Raymond
2010-12	European Export Performance	A. Cheptea, L. Fontagné & S. Zignago

No	Title	Authors
2010-11	The Effects of the Subprime Crisis on the Latin American Financial Markets: An Empirical Assessment	G. Dufrénot, V. Mignon & A. Péguin-Feissolle
2010-10	Foreign Bank Presence and its Effect on Firm Entry and Exit in Transition Economies	O. Havrylchyk
2010-09	The Distorted Effect of Financial Development on International Trade Flows	A. Berthou
2010-08	Exchange Rate Flexibility across Financial Crises	V. Coudert, C. Couharde & V. Mignon
2010-07	Crises and the Collapse of World Trade: the Shift to Lower Quality	A. Berthou & C. Emlinger
2010-06	The heterogeneous effect of international outsourcing on firm productivity	F. McCann
2010-05	Fiscal Expectations on the Stability and Growth Pact: Evidence from Survey Data	M. Poplawski-Ribeiro & J.C. Rüle
2010-04	Terrorism Networks and Trade: Does the Neighbor Hurt	J. de Sousa, D. Mirza & T. Verdier
2010-03	Wage Bargaining and the Boundaries of the Multinational Firm	M. Bas & J. Carluccio
2010-02	Estimation of Consistent Multi-Country FEERs	B. Carton & K. Hervé
2010-01	The Elusive Impact of Investing Abroad for Japanese Parent Firms: Can Disaggregation According to FDI Motives Help	L. Hering, T. Inui & S. Poncet

Organisme public d'étude et de recherche en économie internationale, le CEPII est placé auprès du Centre d'Analyse Stratégique. Son programme de travail est fixé par un conseil composé de responsables de l'administration et de personnalités issues des entreprises, des organisations syndicales et de l'Université.

Les documents de travail du CEPII mettent à disposition du public professionnel des travaux effectués au CEPII, dans leur phase d'élaboration et de discussion avant publication définitive. Les documents de travail sont publiés sous la responsabilité de la direction du CEPII et n'engagent ni le conseil du le Centre. ni Centre d'Analyse Stratégique. Les opinions qui y sont exprimées sont celles des auteurs.

Les *documents de travail* du CEPII sont disponibles sur le site : http://www.cepii.fr